THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2017-CP-27-0386  
Appellate Case No. 2017-002548

---

**RECEIVED**  
AUG 02 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

First Team Hyundai, LLC d/b/a Hilton Head Hyundai ..... Appellant

v.

Greg S. Hackney ..... Respondent

---

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

Bradford N. Martin, Esq. (SC Bar No. 3658)  
Laura W. H. Teer, Esq. (SC Bar No. 16698)  
Bradford Neal Martin & Associates, PA  
Post Office Box 10410  
Greenville, South Carolina 29603  
(864) 552-9990

Attorneys for Appellant

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN REQUIRING A BALANCING TEST IN ORDER TO GRANT A PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION?
- II. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN REQUIRING APPELLANT TO MAKE A “CLEAR SHOWING” THAT IT IS LIKELY TO SUFFER IRREPARABLE HARM IF THE PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION IS DENIED?
- III. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT PROVIDED ONLY CONCLUSORY STATEMENTS REGARDING THE IRREPARABLE HARM IT WAS SUFFERING?
- IV. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT DID NOT PROVIDE SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SHOW THE DECLINE IN ITS CUSTOMERS’ RATINGS AS A RESULT OF RESPONDENT’S ACTIONS?
- V. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT FAILED TO SATISFY ITS BURDEN THAT IT WAS LIKELY TO SUFFER IRREPARABLE INJURY IF THE MOTION WAS NOT GRANTED?
- VI. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE BALANCE OF HARMS WEIGHED IN FAVOR OF DENIAL OF THE MOTION?
- VII. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE RESPONDENT DEMONSTRATED THAT HE WOULD SUFFER DAMAGES OF THE MOST SERIOUS KIND IF THE INJUNCTION WAS ISSUED?
- VIII. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT, IF THE MOTION WAS GRANTED, WOULD SUFFER IRREPARABLE INJURY IF HIS ALLEGEDLY SLANDEROUS PROTESTS WERE DISCONTINUED FOR A SHORT PERIOD OF TIME?
- IX. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN NOT RECOGNIZING THAT THE APPELLANT’S PROTECTION OF PROPERTY RIGHTS SUPPORTED THE GRANTING OF THE MOTION?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant simultaneously filed its Summons and Complaint along with a Motion and Memorandum for a Temporary Restraining Order on September 22, 2017. The Complaint alleged that Respondent, a customer of its service department and body shop, disputed whether his insurance carrier properly covered all the damages to his vehicle. He also refused to return his rental car and was upset that his check for his deductible was unnegotiable. He then demanded payment to “go away.”

Respondent has continuously picketed, making defamatory statements about the Appellant through written signs and oral statements, and has published the defamatory statements to potential customers outside of Appellant’s business almost daily. The Temporary Restraining Order sought to restore matters to the status quo pending the outcome of the libel and slander case.

Appellant filed an Amended Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and/or Preliminary Injunction on October 6, 2017 adding a request for attorney’s fees and costs.

Respondent answered on October 23, 2017, *pro se*, by filing a document numbering 128 pages, that was not served on Appellant until after the hearing. The Answer essentially admitted that the initial dispute was between the third parties and Respondent.

The hearing was held on October 24, 2017. Appellant examined one of its witnesses and the lower court allowed the *pro se* Respondent to cross examine the witness. After only a few questions, the lower court entered into lengthy discussions with Respondent, and then announced that the time for the hearing had ended. No other evidence or testimony was allowed.

The lower court issued its order denying the Motion on October 31, 2017. Appellant filed a Motion to Alter or Amend on November 9, 2017 which was denied on December 6, 2017.

Respondent filed a response to Appellant's Motion on November 15, 2017. Notice of Appeal was filed on December 11, 2017.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

*"Glass, china, and reputations, are easily cracked, and never well mended."*  
Benjamin Franklin

Hilton Head Hyundai has been a model corporate citizen in Jasper County for over 15 years. They have invested over \$500,000 in local charities, and spent over \$70,000 a month in advertising. (R. 181-182) They have achieved outstanding customer service reviews. (R. 183, 226-227) Their reputation has been outstanding prior to the blemish that is daily inflicted by Respondent, and his complaints stem from issues he admits he had with third parties. (R.202-203) Now, Respondent stands outside Appellant's business on an almost daily basis with signs that accuse the Appellant of unethical and deceptive business practices and potential customers have refused to do business with Appellant as a result.

Respondent, an Atlanta, Georgia resident, brought his five-year-old Hyundai to Appellant stating that it had been damaged in an incident with a pothole. (R. 205) The damage to Respondent's car required both body shop and service department work. Appellant also identified a potentially serious engine recall, which was repaired under warranty. (R. 118, 189)

Respondent obtained a rental car from the Hertz office located on Appellant's property. Respondent insisted that his insurance company, GEICO, pay for the damages and rental car. Appellant wrote an estimate, and there were four items that GEICO would not approve. (R. 187) Rather than showing his contempt with GEICO, Respondent has taken it out on Appellant.

When the authorized repairs were completed, a problem arose out of the check Respondent tendered attempting to pay for his deductible. It was in such bad physical condition

that Appellant's check machine would not recognize it. (R. 189) Respondent finally got his sister to pay the deductible by use of her credit card. (R. 207) Respondent refused to return the Hertz rental when his car repair was completed. In fact, Respondent called the police, who ordered him to return the rental car. (R. 209)

Respondent demanded a payment in an amount to give Appellant a "gut punch" to "go away" (R. 192) and made physical threats against Appellant's employees.<sup>1</sup> When his demands were not met, he began picketing Appellant, and has continued to do so on an almost daily since August of 2017. He freely admits that his signs say under Appellant's name: "FRAUD, FRAUD, LIES, LIES." (R. 212), and "UNPROFESSIONAL UNETHICAL HARASSMENT INTIMIDATION." (R. 37, 212)

Hilton Head Hyundai sought a preliminary injunction to preserve the status quo while the underlying facts show that Respondent's actions were the reasons several customers would not do business with Appellant. (R. 24) Respondent continues, almost on a daily basis, to libel and slander Appellant in his admitted attempt to ruin its reputation, by holding up signs and stopping and making oral statements to potential customers. (R. 212) The customers must use a deceleration lane to enter the dealership, and this is where Respondent stands.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN REQUIRING A BALANCING TEST IN ORDER TO GRANT A PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION (ISSUES I & V)**

The lower court erred in applying a balancing test in favor of Respondent when it is no longer a requirement for a preliminary injunction in South Carolina. The lower court judge held that "...courts must balance the competing claims of injury and must consider the effect on each party of the granting or withholding of the requested relief," citing a United States Supreme

---

<sup>1</sup> Respondent threatened to kill one of Appellant's employees (R. 191) and threatened to wrap a golf club around the head of another employee. (R. 27, Affidavit of David Salzman, R. 214)

Court Opinion. (R. 2). The lower court also stated that the “balance of harms would still weigh in favor of denial as [Respondent] has demonstrated he would suffer damages of the most serious kind if the injunction was issued...” (R. 3)

The South Carolina Supreme Court has rejected the application of a balancing test as a requirement for a preliminary injunction. *Compton v South Carolina Dept. of Corrections*, 392 S.C. 361, 366, 709 S.E.2d 639, 642, n. 4 (2011) (citing *Poynter Inves., Inc. v. Sentry Builders of Piedmont, Inc.*, 387 S.C. 583, 586, 694 S.E.2d 15, 17 (2010)). Therefore, it was an error of law for the lower court to apply a balancing test.<sup>2</sup>

The granting or denial of an injunction is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Strategic Resources Co., v. BCS Life Ins. Co.*, 367 S.C. 540, 544, 627 S.E.2d 687, 689 (2006). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the decision of the trial court is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” *Peak v. Spartanburg Reg’l Health Care Sys.*, 367 S.C. 450, 454, 626 S.E.2d 34, 36 (Ct. App. 2005). The trial court abused its discretion in applying the balancing test. Appellant respectfully requests the denial of its preliminary injunction be reversed.

**II. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN REQUIRING APPELLANT TO MAKE A “CLEAR SHOWING” THAT IT IS LIKELY TO SUFFER IRREPARABLE HARM IF THE PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION IS DENIED (ISSUES II AND IV)**

The lower court applied the incorrect standard requiring Respondent to make a “clear showing” of irreparable harm. In evaluating whether a plaintiff is entitled to a preliminary injunction, the court must examine the merits of the underlying case only to the extent necessary to determine whether plaintiff has made a sufficient prima facie showing of entitlement of relief.

---

<sup>2</sup> Even under a balancing test, a preliminary injunction should be granted. The lower court recognized at the hearing that Respondent’s issue was with the insurance company, and not the Appellant (R. 202).

*Compton, supra*, 392, S.Ct. at 367, 709 S.Ed.2d at 642; *Helsel v. City of North Myrtle Beach*, 307 S.C. 29, 32, 413 S.E.2d 826 (1992).

The standard cited in the lower court's Order comes from the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, and not the Supreme Court of South Carolina. As then Chief Justice Toal said in the case of *Scratch Golf v. Dunes West*, 361 S.C. 117, 121, 603 S.E.2d 905 (2004):

[A federal court] decision limiting a federal court's equitable powers is not dispositive of whether a state court judge may restrain a defendant's assets prior to the attachment of a money judgment. There is no federal question here that would cause the [*Grupo Mexicano de Desarrollo, S.A. v. Alliance Bond Fund, Inc.*, 527 U.S. 308 (1999)] decision to be binding in this state court proceeding, thus we decline to apply the *Grupo* analysis to this matter.

Likewise, this case is not based on a federal question, but rather the common law protection of well-earned property rights and restoring the status quo from continuing conduct that is causing harm to the Appellant. Therefore, the case relied upon by the lower court, *Hodges v. Abraham*,<sup>3</sup> should not be controlling.

Instead of requiring a "clear showing" of irreparable harm, the South Carolina standard is an injunction should be granted if a sufficient prima facie showing of facts demonstrate that relief is reasonably necessary to preserve the rights of the parties during the litigation:

The purpose of a preliminary injunction is to preserve the status quo and prevent irreparable harm to the party requesting it. *Powell v. Emanuel Baptist Church*, 261 S.C. 219, 221, 199 S.E.2d 60, 61 (1973). An applicant for a preliminary injunction must allege sufficient facts to state a cause of action for injunction and demonstrate that his relief is **reasonably necessary** to preserve the rights of the parties during the litigation. *County of Ridgeland v. Simpkins*, 348 S.C. 664, 669, 560 S.E.2d 902, 904 (Ct. App. 2002). Accordingly, the applicant must establish three elements to receive this relief: 1) he will suffer immediate, irreparable harm without the injunction; 2) he has a likelihood of success on the merits; and 3) he has no adequate remedy at law. *Scratch Golf Company v. Dunes W. Residential Golf Props., Inc.*, 361 S.C. 117, 121, 603 S.E.2d 905, 908 (2004).

*Compton v. South Carolina Department of Corrections*, 392 S.C. 361-366, 709 S.E.2d 639, 642

---

<sup>3</sup> 253 F.Supp.2d 846, 864 (D.S.C. 2002), citing *Multi-Channel TV Cable Co. v. Charlottesville Quality Cable Operating Co.*, 22 F.3d 546, 551 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994).

(2011). (emphasis added)

When seeking an injunction, the Appellant need not prove an absolute legal right; the Appellant need only present a fair question to raise as to the existence of such right. *Williams v. Jones*, 92 S.C. 342, 347, 75 S.E.2d 705, 710, (1912). Accordingly, the lower court's analysis should have been limited to only whether Appellant's Motion stated a prima facie case that Respondent's slanderous and libelous actions will cause irreparable harm and it was an abuse of the trial court's discretion to require a "clear showing" of irreparable harm.

**III. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT FAILED TO SATISFY ITS BURDEN THAT IT WAS LIKELY TO SUFFER IRREPARABLE INJURY IF THE MOTION WAS NOT GRANTED (ISSUES II AND III)**

The lower court erred in failing to grant the injunction because it will preserve the status quo and avoid potential irreparable harm to the Appellant while the litigation is pending. See *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Associates*, 346 S.C. 580, 601, 553 S.E. 2d 110, 121 (2001); *MailSource LLC v. MA Bailey & Assoc.*, 356 S.C. 363, 368, 588 S.E.2d 635 638 (Ct. App. 2003). Again, the burden is to make a prima facie showing of entitlement to relief, *Compton*, supra, 392 S.C. 367, 709 S.E.2d at 642.

Actions for injunctive relief are equitable in nature. See *Grosshuesch v. Cramer*, 367 S.C. 1, 4, 623 S.E.2d 833, 834 (2005). In equitable actions, an appellate court may review the record and make findings of fact in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Denman v. City of Columbia*, 387 S.C. 131, 140, 691 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2010).

The unopposed evidence at the hearing established all three elements: 1) the Appellant presented evidence of lost sales impossible to measure due to the slanderous and libelous comments of Respondent (R. 176); 2) Respondent's statements regarding the Appellant are

defamatory<sup>4</sup> and Respondent agreed his complaints center around the actions of third parties thus showing Appellant's likelihood of success, (R. 202); and 3) there is no adequate remedy at law to protect the loss of reputation.

The lower court erred in not finding that the Appellant will suffer irreparable harm as its reputation is damaged daily. "Once a prima facie showing has been made entitling the plaintiff to injunctive relief, a temporary injunction will be granted without regard to the ultimate termination of the case on the merits." *Helsel v. City of North Myrtle Beach*, 307 S.C. 29, 32, 413 S.E.2d 824, 826 (1992). Prima facie facts are those that are presumed to be true unless disproved by some evidence to the contrary. See Black's Law Dictionary, Sixth Edition (1990). Respondent did not dispute that his actions are causing damage to the Appellant.

Appellant presented prima facie evidence that Respondent's actions will cause it irreparable harm and that its business was already being negatively impacted:

The right to carry on a lawful business without obstruction is a property right, and acts committed without just cause or excuse which interfere with the carrying of on [sic] plaintiff's business or destroy its custom, its credit or its profits, do an irreparable injury and thus authorize the issuance of an injunction.

*Guion v. Terra Marketing of Nevada, Inc.*, 523 P.2d 847, 848 (Nev. 1974).

Appellant presented affidavit evidence that customers were calling about Respondent's actions and that two consumers stated explicitly that they based their decision not to do business

---

<sup>4</sup> Slander "is actionable per se when the defendant's alleged defamatory statements charge the plaintiff with one of five types of acts or characteristics: (1) commission of a crime of moral turpitude; (2) contraction of a loathsome disease; (3) adultery; (4) unchastity; or (5) unfitness in one's business or profession." *Goodwin v. Kennedy*, 347 S.C. 30, 36, 552 S.E.2d 319, 322-23 (Ct. App. 2001). Defendant is accusing Hilton Head Hyundai of being unfit in its business, therefore, his statements are actionable *per se*.

Libel is actionable per se if it involved written or printed words that tend to degrade the person in the estimation of his friends or acquaintances or the public or to disgrace him. *Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc.*, 332 S.C. 502, 506 S.E.2d 497 (1998) (*Holtzscheiter II*). Essentially, all libel is actionable *per se*.

on Respondent's actions. (R. 24) The only actions of the Respondent are the defamatory actions. The Court's requirement that these customers verbally link their decision not to do business with Appellant to the slanderous and libelous statements of the Respondent imposes an improper standard.<sup>5</sup>

Appellant has established a prima facie case of irreparable harm. The South Carolina standard for an injunction is to preserve the status quo to avoid potential irreparable injury, and not to prove actual irreparable injury. *See Zabinski, supra*.

#### **IV. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THE INJUNCTION WOULD BE PRIOR RESTRAINT (ISSUES VII, VIII AND IX)**

The lower court concluded that defamation could never be enjoined. This conclusion was based on a misreading of the United States Supreme Court opinions. The court cited *Elrod v. Burns*, 427 U.S. 346 (1976) for the proposition that the loss of First Amendment freedoms, for even minimal periods of time, unquestionably constituted irreparable injury. (R. 3) However, the *Elrod* decision was a plurality opinion, and while two of the Justices joined the result, "they cannot join in the plurality's wide-ranging opinion." *Elrod*, 427 U.S. at 374. Therefore, the quotations cited by the lower court was from only three of the Justices, and is therefore not controlling authority.

The lower court also misapplied the holding in *Tory v. Cochran*, 544 U.S. 734 (2005). That case involved a preliminary injunction against a trial attorney, Johnnie Cochran, who represented O.J. Simpson in his criminal case. His office was being picketed, but during the pendency of the case, Johnnie Cochran died. Since he died, the Supreme Court concluded:

Since picketing Cochran and his law offices while engaging in injunction-forbidden speech could no longer achieve the objectives that the trial court had in mind (i.e., coercing Cochran to pay a "tribute" for desisting in this activity), the

---

<sup>5</sup> Time constraints caused the hearing to be ended before re-direct of the Appellant's witness could be conducted, or Respondent could be cross examined.

grounds for the injunction are much diminished, if they have not disappeared altogether. Consequently, the injunction, as written, now amounts to an overly broad prior restraint upon speech, lacking plausible justification.

*Tory*, 544 U.S. at 738.

Respondent is also attempting to coerce Appellant to pay a “tribute” for desisting in his activity. (R. 192) However, Appellant’s business is alive and continuing, and therefore the “grounds for the injunction” are not diminished.

Finally, the Supreme Court in *Tory* remanded the case and stated:

We express no view on the constitutional validity of any such new relief, tailored to the changing circumstances should it be entered.

*Tory*, 544 at 738 – 739.

The idea that a preliminary injunction can never be used in a libel and slander matter has been criticized, as eloquently stated by Judge Posner in *McCarthy v. Fuller*, 810 F.3d 456, 462, (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2015):

This has led to the belief in some quarters that defamation, which is a type of speech, can never be enjoined. The problem with such rule is that it would make an impecunious defamer undeterrable.

Respondent admitted in the hearing that he is “in between things.” (R.211) He also admitted during the hearing that his issues were with the insurance company, (R. 202-203) yet he continues to picket the Appellant. If no injunction is allowed, this would allow Respondent to continue forever, undeterred.

The United States Supreme Court has made it clear that there are exceptions to prohibiting injunctions as the lower court recognized in its Order (R. 4). As Chief Justice Frankfurter has stated in *Kingsley Books Inc. v. Brown* 354 US 436, 441 (1957):

...liberty of speech...is not an absolute right, and that “the protection even as to previous restraint is not absolutely unlimited”.

Courts in other jurisdictions have granted numerous injunctions directed at allegedly defamatory statements and statements designed to injure business reputation.<sup>6</sup>

There are well recognized exceptions to a First Amendment privilege: 1) when the speech impugns the Appellant's property interest,<sup>7</sup> and 2) when Respondent is engaged in a continuing course of conduct causing the Appellant harm.<sup>8</sup> Appellant has presented uncontradicted evidence to raise a fair question that its reputation (a property right) has been injured, and that Respondent admittedly is engaged in a continuing course of conduct by daily slandering and libeling Appellant (R. 194, 213)

---

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