THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, 14th Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
SEP 04 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2017-CP-27-0386
Appellate Case No. 2017-002548

First Team Hyundai, LLC d/b/a Hilton Head HyundaiAppellant

V.

Gregory Hackney.....Respondent

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Greg Hackney
30 Old Vermont Place
Sandy Springs, Georgia 30328
678-855-2975

Self-Represented
Respondent

Greg Hackney



Date

August 31 2018

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, 14th Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Issues on Appeal I – IX

I Reference and agree as Noted - The Honorable Judge Carmen T. Mullins

- 1. Order, October 31, 2017 Denying Preliminary Injunction Restraining Order.**
- 2. Order December 6, 2017 Denying "Reconsider" To Amend Order.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant simultaneously filed its summons and Complaint along with a Motion and memorandum for a Temporary Restraining Order on September 22, 2017.

Respondent answered within 30 days and filed response – Monday October 23rd, 2017.

The Complaint alleged the Respondent, a customer of its service department and body shop, disputed whether his insurance carrier properly covered all damages to his vehicle.

I disputed why all of the replacements - repairs were not completed, spider webs and roaches in my vehicle, concerned why they would not give me documentation of my New Engine Installation, there was a new dent on my vehicle and upon asking to speak to the owner or General Manager I was pushed to the New Car Sales Manager. (R. 30-35, 41-42, 58, 120, 132, 166, 198, 201-204)

He also refused to return his rental car and...

I refused to return my rental car to Hilton Head Hyundai's possession. I made a credit card payment curing the Hilton Head Hyundai Service Agreement = ZERO and they added a condition demanding I return the rental car to their possession prior returning my vehicle. The two contracts were/are exclusive to one another. I planned on returning the rental car to the Savannah International Airport. (R. 35, 38, 43-44, 83, 89-91, 207-210)

was upset his check for his deductible was unnegotiable.

Defined as capable of being negotiated, it appeared their machine could not read the numbers at the bottom of my check. We did not confirm their machine was not the reason my check could not be read for approval or any other reason. (R. 42-44, 99, 116, 208-210)

I was frustrated because it was after 5:00 pm and I intended to drive back to Atlanta, Georgia upon the return of my vehicle.

NOTED

The summons and Complaint filed September 22, 2017 stated the following:

Plaintiff first came upset when his check was declined by a third-party check processing Company. (R. 11)

The Statement Facts filed February 15th, 2018 now states the following:

When the authorized repairs were completed, a problem arose out of the check Respondent tendered attempting to pay for his deductible. It was in such bad condition the Appellant check machine would not recognize it.

He then demanded payment to "go away."

The Appellant's claim "demanded payment to go away" is first recorded on any document February 15th, 2018. Appellant's new accusation - claim was not included on the original Complaint including referenced in their request for Preliminary Injunction and Motion to Reconsider – Motion to Amend. I guess the old saying, if the first two attempts to take away my First Amendment Rights fail try another accusation – claim strategy.

The Facts, a day prior the hearing I filed my response to their complaint accusing me of Malice, Defamation including damages. My response, document filed, did not include a request for tribute, demand or request for damages from Appellant related to the Respondent leaving the premise and stop informing the public of the business interaction with Appellant. (R. 30-53)

An acceptable outcome from the first and only meeting September 13th, 2017 between Respondent and Appellant; an apology, explanation related their unethical behavior including

Harassment -Intimidation tactics and the requested documents (signed by John Lyons CFO) related to my new engine installation per Hyundai Corporation Recall. (R. 49)

The follow up meeting on September 15th, 2017, neither occurred.

The only apology I have receive to date was regarding their employees stealing my signs and cussing me as they drove their carts behind me including crossing over onto State Property as per State Highway 278. "They are upset they are not selling cars" – THE STATEMENT IS AN EXCUSE NOT AN APOLOGY. (R. 45-52)

I am exercising my rights as a United States Citizen, informing and educating the Public of my business interaction with Hilton Head Hyundai.

Respondent answered on October 23, 2017, pro se, by filing a document numbering 128 pages that was not served on Appellant until after the hearing.

As stated and confirmed I responded to the summons and Complaint within the 30 days required and as such the date was October 23, 2017. The reason the Appellant was not served until after the hearing is because the hearing was the very next day October 24th, 2017.

I have been in discussions my Insurance Company, Geico, regarding claims. I have been with them for over 20 years and consider them reliable, ethical, fair and honest including demonstrating a high level of integrity during claims.

My issues regarding the repairs, replacements on my vehicle related to driving through a pot hole have been with - and are with Hilton Head Hyundai. (R. 41-52)

The hearing was held on October 24th, 2017. Appellant examined one of the witnesses and the Lower court allowed the pro se to cross examine the witness. After a few questions, the lower

court entered into a lengthy discussion with Respondent, and then announced the time for the hearing had ended. No other evidence or testimony was allowed.

Wednesday October 18, 2017

I was told by my sister that someone was looking for me regarding a hearing on Tuesday, October 24th, 2017; she mentioned the time of the hearing was 2:30pm.

I spoke to an assistant at Bradford Martin's Assistant regarding this date and she confirmed the date and time also informing me that someone was looking to serve me regarding the hearing.

Friday October 19th, 2017

I went to the Jasper County Court House – County Clerk's Office to inquire about a date – time of hearing but the Count Clerk was out and nobody could help me.

I visited the Beaufort County Clerk's Office since the Judge Mullin's office was located in the Court House and her assistant was unsure of any hearing but requested I email a person and they would let me know.

I person called and stated he was trying to serve me, I was unavailable to meet him and as the law required he could not tell me contents of the summons.

Monday October 23rd, 2017

I visited the Jasper County Clerk's Office and spoke to the County Clerk who was unaware of the hearing date – time but she texted someone to confirm if there was a hearing; after waiting over 30- 45 minutes I decided to leav

Tuesday October 24th, 2017

I arrived at Jasper County Court House in the AM and the Count Clerk informed me I had a hearing at Lunch time; not at 2:30pm as told to me by my sister and Bradford, Neal Martin & Associates. I dressed into my suit in my car and attended the hearing.

The Answer essentially admitted that the initial dispute between the third parties and

Respondent.

My Answer to complaint does not state or admit I had a dispute with any third party. My Dispute – complaint has always been with Hilton Head Hyundai. (R. 35-36, 41-52, 92, 112-113, 208-220)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

"Glass, china and reputations, are easily cracked, and never well mended."

Benjamin Franklin

30 years of business related issues I find that business related concerns are typically accurate; I think he is referencing Persons v. Persons and I agree with his comments as such!

Hilton Head Hyundai has been a model corporate citizen in Jasper County for over 15 years.

They have invested over \$500,000 in local charities, and spent \$70,000 a month in

Advertising. Their reputation has been outstanding prior to the blemish that is daily inflicted by respondent, and his complaints stem from issues he admits he had with third parties.

In any Corporate or Private Sector environment I have yet to review any document relating charitable donation and/or monthly advertising spend related to how a business entities front line employees interact with their customers including such related reputation.

For the record...again, MY COMPLAINTS ARE NOT WITH THE THIRD PARTY AS STATED, GEICO!

(R. 42-52, 208-220)

Now, Respondent stands outside Appellants Business almost daily with signs that accuse the Appellant of unethical and deceptive business practices and potential customers have refused to do business with Appellant as a result.

Hilton Head Hyundai has provided an affidavit from a Hilton Head Employee who stated two potential customers called into their dealership! GOOD GRIEF!

Prior hearing and to date I have not been provided nor the court any affidavit directly from any persons (non-employee) regarding the statement per above.

The signs inform the public of their behavior post the events August 25th – 26th, 2017.

The signs are not an accusation as 5 Of 6 can be confirmed by watching the Wal-Mart video obtained by the Jasper County Sheriff's Office. (R. 26-27, 49-52, 112-113, 166, 212-215)

Appellant also identified a potentially serious engine recall, which was repaired under warranty.

I was told the recall was a FULL ENGINE REPLACEMENT – not repaired. On August 25th, 2017 I asked Mickey (Hilton Head Service Person) if I could get documentation that the engine was replaced and he said there was none, then commented to me “it looks new” as such I ended the conversation and asked to speak to Jessica’s Boss, General Manager or Owner. I was unethically sent to the New Car Sales Manager who had nothing to do with Hilton Head Hyundai Service. Noted: I was not informed it was not the Owner or General Manager!

NOTED: (R. 33-34)

1. At present date I do not have any documentation regarding the Full Engine Replacement including associated Recall information, engine ID number etc.
2. Corey Johnson, Hilton head Service Person informed me I had to leave my car at their dealership as the current engine was dangerous and could cause me harm if I drove back to Atlanta. A False Statement and inaccurate demand; I could have driven my car home after they repaired the accident related damages. I was told by John Lyons (September 13, 2017) Jessica informed me I could return to Atlanta Georgia if I signed a Notification Waiver as noted I was never presented any such Waiver. I first spoke to Jessica (Hilton Head Service Manager) after returning to Atlanta regarding my Hertz Rental Car as such a False Statement from John Lyons.

3. Corey's False Statement and inaccurate demand resulted in Hilton Head Hyundai Profiting from the Full Engine Recall.

Respondent insisted a rental car from the Hertz office located on Appellant's property.

Respondent insisted that his insurance company, Geico pay for the damages and rental car.

INSISTED? Corey Johnson, Hilton head Service Person informed me I had to leave my car at their dealership as the current engine was dangerous and could cause me harm if I drove back to Atlanta. The Recall Test resulted FAILED: I was informed that Hyundai Corporate Office would provide a rental car so he called the Hertz Rental Car on their premise. A few moments later a person from Hertz Rental Car drove up and I went to their location to get a car. Hilton Head Corporate Office was invoiced for the time period during the new engine installation

INSISTED? Geico is my insurance provider and they provided the appropriate coverage for the pot hole related damages and payment for the rental car charges during the time period not related to the new engine recall. My policy covers provides a rental car up to \$1,500 dollars.

Appellant wrote an Estimate, and there were four items that Geico would not approve.

rather than show his content with Geico, Respondent has taken it out on Appellant.

For the record...again, MY COMPLAINTS ARE NOT WITH THE THIRD PARTY STATED, GEICO!

(R. 41-52, 208-218)

There were two Supplemental Service Orders post the initial approved estimate from Geico – Hilton Head Hyundai.

1. Front Bumper
2. Mid-Section Under Protection Garment

Noted: there were two additional Supplemental Services Orders that were related to the May 23rd, 2017 accident; approved and paid directly from Geico post my car leaving their care.

Hilton Hyundai re-defines authorized as related to the accident.

Details on each below:

Upon my car in my possession I met with Buck Abele, the Geico Adjuster who was the assigned adjuster and worked with Hilton Head Hyundai during the repairs, in parking lots and showed him damages related to the accident. He approved two Supplemental Service Orders including payments.

1. 09/06/2017 \$1,017.29
2. 09/27/2017 \$1,914.00 (Est.)

Hilton Head Hyundai is the expert on related damages and one would think Basic Business Standards, Guidelines and Principles would have been compelled their service personnel to point out the related damages as such Geico would approve PRIOR the vehicle leaving Hilton Head Hyundai.

As stated Geico Approved the repairs-replacements. (R. 120, 132)

When the Authorized repairs were completed, a problem arose out of the check Respondent tendered attempting to pay for his deductible. It was in such bad condition the appellant check would not recognize it. (R. 42-44, 88, 116, 208-210)

Statement from original Summons – COMPLAINT Plaintiff first came upset when his check was DECLINED by a third-party check processing company.

THERE WAS NEVER ANY CONVERSATIONS REGARDING MY CHECK BEING APPROVED OR DENIED

August 25th, 2017 there were multiple attempts to run my check through their third-party check system processing company all of which did not confirm or deny a valid check. Mickey,

Jessica and others including the General Manager attempted to run the check but all responded telling me their machine could not read the numbers on the bottom of the check. I witnessed their attempts including the General Manager putting a blank sheet of paper behind the check as he inserted it so the machine could read it. All attempts to read the numbers at the bottom of my check were unsuccessful including the General Managers.

Through my own research they could have verbally confirmed the check with their provider not including there are other Peacock Auto - Mall dealerships in walking distance they could have used to determine the validity of the check.

Suspect of their actions, I went to Publix and Wal-Mart the following morning and their check processing systems verified the SAME check for \$1,000 as valid and approved.

Noted: Their system might be different but each of their machines (cash register and/or third-party check processing machines) read the numbers on the bottom of the SAME check. Also, the value of the check was included but could not be cashed for \$1,000. Publix and Wal-Mart amount not authorized per \$1,000. (R. 42-44)

Respondent finally got his sister to pay the deductible by use of her credit card.

I returned the next day after they would not accept my check, during this time period I misplaced my Card so I simply asked my sister to pay Hilton Head Hyundai my balance so I could return home. Unfortunately after payment, they still would not release my car. (R. 230)

Respondent refused to return the Hertz Rental Car when his car repair was completed. In

fact, Respondent called the police, who ordered him to return the rental car. (R. 208-210)

Good Grief!!!

I made my \$1,000 deductible payment and Hilton Head Hyundai Service Manager, Jessica, refused to return my vehicle. I refused to return the vehicle into their possession, I planned on returning the vehicle to the Savannah International Airport as the Hertz Rental Car on their premise was closed.

The Police did not arrive, it was the Jasper County Sheriff's Office who have authority over this premise. They did not order me to return the car as I could have driven off because it was not reported stolen. Jasper County Sheriff Officer Dodson aligned with Hilton Head Hyundai making the return of the Hertz Rental Car a condition prior the return of my vehicle.

Hilton Head Hyundai: Denied the return of my vehicle after making my \$1,000 Payment:

Conversion of Property.

Noted: The Hertz Rental on their premise was closed I was not going to just leave my car with Hilton Head Hyundai who had prior demonstrated zero integrity and ethical standards.

I explained two exclusive contracts with my name on each as such they had no right to include the return of my rental car after curing my Hilton Head Hyundai Service Order balance. The Hilton Head Service Invoice does not state or include any contractual alignment to any Hertz Rental Car. (R. 76-81, 90) NOTED, there were not HERTZ RENTAL CAR PERSONNEL PRESENT.

Respondent demanded a payment in an amount to give Appellant a "Gut Punch" to "GO AWAY"

The Appellant's claim "demanded payment to go away" is first recorded on any

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